ORIGINAL
	017
	FILED SID J. WHITE
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	FEB 10 1997
	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
	Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 89, 479 (Fourth District Court of Appeal Case No. 96-1437)

i

THEODORE FREEMAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON **PETITION** FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPRAL OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Theodore Freeman #782192 Martin Correctional Institution 1150 S.W. Allapattah Road Indiantown, Florida 34956 Petitioner, pro se.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The petitioner, THEODORE FREEMAN, was the defendant in the circuit court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County Florida, in case number <u>93-1437</u>. The State of Florida, was the Respondent/Plaintiff in the Circuit Court and appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable court.

On June 21, 1993, the petitioner entered a plea of guilty in Broward County Circuit Court to **One** (1) count of attempted Felony murder in the first degree and one (1) count of Armed Robbery with a firearm. In exchange for his guilty plea, the trial court sentenced petitioner to ten (IO) years with a three (3) year mandatory Florida State Prison for the crime of attempted Felony Murder. Petitioner Freeman did not file a direct appeal.

On May 4, 1995, this court issued it's decision in <u>Grav v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 552 ((Fla. 1995), Wherein this court held that the crime of attempted felony murder did not exist and that the extension of the felony murder doctrine to make intent irrelevant for the purposes of this attempted crime was illogical and without basis in law. As a result of the <u>GRAY</u> decision, on ______ the petitioner filed a motion for post conviction relief pursuant to rule 3.850, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure. Petitioner requested the trial court to apply <u>GRAY</u> retroactively and to vacate his conviction and ten(10) year sentence for attempted felony murder. On February 23, 1996, the Honorable Judge Zeidwig (trial COURT) entered an order denying petitioner's motion for post conviction relief.

As a result of the trial court's order, petitioner Freeman timely filed an appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On <u>September 18, 1996</u>, the Fourth

-1-

District Court of appeal entered an opinion affirming the trial court's order denying petitioner's 3.850 motion. Freeman **v**. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D2056 (Fla. 4thdcaSept.18,3.996). (copy of the district court's opinion is attached to this brief.). In the opinion the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

IS STATE V. GRAY, 654 So.2d 552(Fla. 1995) RETROACTIVE?

On 11-25-96, the petitioner filed a notice to invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this court and on December 9, 1996, this court entered an order Postponing decision on Jurisdiction and briefing schedule. Pursuant to this Court's order, the petitioner respectfully files this brief.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

• 5

I, WHETHER THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 SO. 2D 552(FLA. 1995), WHICH HOLDS THAT ATTEMPTED FELONY MURDER IS NOT A CRIME IN FLORIDA, MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner entered a plea of guilty to the crime of attempted felony murder- A year and a half later after **petitioner**'s conviction became final, this Court held that the crime of attempted felony murder did not exist because the crime is legally impossible to commit. Because petitioner is serving a sentence for a nonexistent **crime**, this Court's decision **in** <u>Gray</u> **implicates** the due process clause of the Florida and United States Constitutions and the decision is therefore, constitutional in nature. Furthermore, the change of law announced in <u>Gray</u> is fundamentally significant because it completely abolished the crime of felony murder and has removed the power from the state to charge, convict and punish an individual for this crime. Therefore, the <u>Gray</u> decision must be applied retroactively to cases which are already final.

ARGUMENT

4

Ι.

THIS COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. GRAY, 654 SO.2D 552 (FLA. 1995) MEETS THE THREE-PRONG TEST ENUMERATED IN WITT V. STATE, 387 SO.2D 922 (FLA. 1980), AND, THEREFORE, MUST BE RETROACTIVELY APPLIED.

In <u>Amlotte v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1984), this Court responded to two questions certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal and ultimately held that the crime of attempted felony murder did exist in Florida- This court defined the essential elements of attempted felony murder as "the perpetration of or the attempt to perpetrate an enumerated felony, together with an intentional act, or the aiding and abetting of such an act, which could, but does not, cause the death of another-" Id at 449. Recognizing that the attempt to commit a crime necessarily requires proof of the intent to commit the underlying offense, this Court reasoned that the law presumes the existence of premeditation where the "attempt" occurred during the commission of a felony and that "state of mind is immaterial for the felony is said to supply the intent. Id at 449 (See Flemming v. State, 374 So.2d 54-956 (Fla. 1979).

In the dissenting opinion in <u>Amlotte</u>, Justice Overton criticized the logic on which the majority base its conclusion that attempted felony murder was a crime in Florida. Specifically, the dissenting opinion recognized that the crime of felony murder is based upon a legal fiction which imputes malice aforethought from the person's intent to commit the underlying felony. Furthermore, this legal fiction has been extended to impute intent for deaths caused by the acts of co-felons and police. The dissent, however, concluded that the even further extension of the felony murder doctrine to the crime of attempted felony murder was "illogical and without basis in law." Id at 451.

-5-

Justice Overton based this conclusion on the fact that a conviction for the offense of attempt must always require proof to commit the underlying crime- In applying the felony murder doctrine - which presumes an intent to kill - to the crime of attempt, "the Court has created a crime which necessitates the finding of an intent to commit a crime which requires no proof of intent." Id at 450.

Eleven years later; this Court abolished the crime of attempted felony murder by receding from the holding in <u>Almotte</u>, State v. Gray, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995). Candidly recognizing that the majority's holding in <u>Amlotte</u> was based on "an error in legal thinking," this Court refused to swear blind allegiance to precedent" and found that the "application of the majority's holding in <u>Amlotte</u> has proven more troublesome than beneficial and that Justice Overton's view is more logical and correct position." 564 So.2d 552.

In the present case, on June 21, 1993, the petitioner plead guilty to one count of attempted first degree felony murder and armed robbery with a firearm and was sentenced to ten (10) years in the Florida State Prison with a three (3) year mandatory. Thus relying on this Court's decision in <u>Amlotte</u>, defense counsel made no argument that the crime of attempted felony murder did not exist. Therefore, petitioner did not file an appeal to the district court. After petitioner began his sentence and his case had become final, this Court issued its decision in <u>Gray</u>. The **issue** resent in the instant case is whether this Court's decision in <u>Gray</u> should be retroactively applied to petitioner's case which became final before <u>Gray</u> was decided.

<u>Gray</u> must be applied retroactively if the change in Florida law brought about by this decision satisfies the three-prong teat set forth in W<u>itt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 449 U.S. 1067, 101 S.Ct. 796, 66 L-Ed 2d 2(1980). Under W<u>itt</u>, a new rule of law may be applied retroactively if the new rule (1) originates in either the United States Supreme Court or the Florida Supreme Court; (2) is Constitutional in nature; and (3) has fundamental

-6-

significance. Witt, 387 So.2d at 929, 30!

Petitioner requests this Court to find that the change of law in <u>Gray</u> which abolished the **crime** for which petitioner is serving a ten year sentence satisfies the three-prong test announced in <u>Witt</u>. Your petitioner further urges this Court to find that <u>Gray</u>, must be applied retroactively and to quash the decision of the district court and vacate the petitioner's conviction of attempted **felony murder**.

1A. THIS COURT'S DECISION IN GRAY IS CONSTITUTIONAL IN NATURE AND SHOULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

In the dissenting opinion in <u>Amlotte</u>, which this Court subsequently adopted as a correct analysis in <u>Gray</u>, Justice Overton noted that the creation of the crime of attempted felony murder is a "logical absurdity and certainly an inadequate conceptual basis for something that needs to be as clear and understandable as do the elements of a felony crime." See <u>Amlotte</u> at 456.2d 450 (Overton, J., dissenting)(quoting <u>Amlotte v. State</u>, 435 So.2d 249 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)(Cowart, J., dissenting)). A fundamental precept of our criminal justice system is that everyone must be given sufficient notice of those matters which may result in a deprivation of life, liberty, or property. <u>Perkins v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1991). Due process requires that criminal statutes must apprise ordinary persons of common intelligence as to what the statute prohibits. <u>See</u> Logan v. State, 666 So.2d 260 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In <u>Logan</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that this Court's decision in <u>Flowers v.State</u>, 586 So.2d

¹ Clearly thia Court" decision in <u>Gray</u> satisfies this first prong of the <u>Witt</u> test. It must be noted, however, that this Court's directive that "this decision must be applied to all cases pending on direct review or not yet final [citation omitted]" does not preclude the argument that the decision in <u>Gray</u> should be applied retroactively. If this Court intended to limit the application in <u>Gray</u> to only those cases on direct review or not yet final, this Court would have surely undertaken a complete analysis utilizing the three-prong test announced in Witt-

1058 (Fla. 1991), which concluded that legal constraint points should only be used once in calculating a guideline sentence, was constitutional in nature and, therefore, satisfied the second prong of the <u>Witt</u> test. In reaching this conclusion the <u>Logan</u> court found that the decision in <u>Flowers</u> was based on the concept of lenity which is founded on the due process requirement that criminal statutes must apprise ordinary person of common intelligence as to what is prohibited.2 <u>Logan v. State</u>, 666 So.2d 261. As a result, the decision in <u>Flowers</u> attained constitutional significance and had to be retroactively applied to the defendant in <u>Logan v. State</u>.

If this Court's decision in <u>Plowers v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1991), should be given retroactively application because it was based on the concept of due process, then surely the same rationale must be extended to <u>Gray</u>. However the decision in <u>Gray</u> went far beyond resolving conflicting interpretations of an existing statute- When adopting the dissent in <u>Amlotte</u>, this Court explicitly held that its initial decision which defined the crime of attempted felony murder was a "logical absurdity" and provided an "inadequate conceptual basis" to create a clear and understandable definition of this extremely serious felony crime. See 456 So.2d 450 (Overton, J. dissenting). From this realm of logical absurdity and legal function flows the crystalline clear consequence that the ordinary person of common intelligence could not have been expected to understand what conduct was proscribed by this Court's definitions or attempted felony murder.

This consequence is make particularly evident through this Court's straight forward admission that the definition of this crime had no "basis law."

Further, this Court's conclusion that the definition of attempted felony murder was illogical and without basis in law is analogous to a situation ere this Court's declared that a statute violates the due process clause because the statute is void for vagueness.

 $^{^2}$ In <u>Flowers</u>, this Court resorted to the lenity statute, sect ion 775.021(1) Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), and held that when susceptible of different interpretation, the sentencing guidelines must be construed in favor of the defendant.

If this Court found that a statute did not provide ordinary citizens with proper notice as to what the statute proscribed and declared the statute unconstitutional, the court's decision would render the statutes void from the date of its enactment, not from the date the court declared the statute to be unconstitutional. <u>Bell v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Russo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 70 So.2d 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). The same rationale which requires a retroactive application of a decision declaring a statute unconstitutionally vague must be extended to this instant case (<u>Freeman v. State</u>), where petitioner is imprisoned for a crime which this Court has conceded is a logical absurdity based on nothing more than a legal fiction. Ordinary people of common intelligence could not have understood how attempted felony murder which requires no proof of intent was a crime where the attempt statue always requires proof of an intent to commit the underlying felony-

2

& is also constitutional in nature because the petitioner is imprisoned for a nonexistent crime. In <u>State v. Sykes</u>, 434 So.2d 325 (Fla. 1983), the defendant was convicted of attempted second degree grand theft- Even though there was no objection when the trial court instructed the jury that it could find the defendant guilty of attempted second degree grand theft as a lesser included offense of a second degree grand theft , this Court reversed <u>Sykes</u> conviction because the crime of attempted second degree grand theft simply does not exist- In <u>Sykes</u>, this Court stated:

[A]uthority in Florida holds that one cannot be punished base on a judgment of guilt of a purported crime when the "offense" in question does not exist. Stated differently, it is a fundamental matter of due process that the state may only punish one who has committed an offense; and an "offense" is an act clearly prohibited by the lawful authority of the state, providing notice through published laws.

-9-

Federal courts have arrived at the same conclusion. In <u>Adams v. Murphy</u>, 653 F.2d 224 (5th Cir, 1981), the defendant sought postconvtion relief because he was convicted under Florida law for the nonexistent crime of attempted perjury.³ In Adams the court stated:

<u>ء</u> ،

Florida has told us that [Adams] went to prison for an act that is not and never has been a crime under Florida Law...[only] a legislature can denounce crime. In a more complex case, we might proceed upon a more limited **rationale**, might resort to solace of prior authority. Here there is no need. No where in this country can nay man be condemned for a nonexistent crime. Id at 225.

The United States Supreme Court has likewise held that a law must be applied retroactively when a trial court lacked authority to convict and punish a criminal defendant in the first place. <u>United States v. Johnson</u>, 457 U.S. 537, (1982); <u>Teague v. Lane</u>, 489 U.S. 289,(1989). applying the rationale of <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Lane</u>, the Third District Court of Appeal held that this Court's decision in <u>Gray</u> must be applied retroactively. <u>Woodley v. State</u>, 673 So-2d 127 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1996)⁴. Furthermore, the court in <u>Woodly</u> found that the Gray decision satisfied the three-prong test enumerated in <u>Witt</u>, <u>supra</u>. Specifically the Court stated:

> The <u>Gray</u> decision meets these factors as well. First, Gray was decided by the Florida Supreme Court. Second, <u>Gray</u> is constitutional in nature because it affected the defendant's due process rights and liberty interest since the crime with which she was convicted is nonexistent. Third, the <u>Gray</u> rule is of fundamental significance because it places beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties, namely attempted murder during the commission of a felony. Therefore, the <u>Gray</u> decision is retroactive, even to cases which are final. Id at 128.

³ In <u>Adams v. Murphy</u>, 394 So.2d 41, (Fla. 1981), this Court answered a question certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit and held that there was no such crime as attempted perjury in Florida.

⁴ In <u>Woodley</u> the Court certified the following question to this Court: <u>Should State v. Gree</u>, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995, holding that attempted felony murder is not a **crime** be applied retroactively to overturn the conviction of a person convicted of that crime, after the case has become final on appeal?

In <u>Hale v. State, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993)</u>, this Court held that it is impermissible to impose consecutive habitual sentence for multiple offenses arising out of the same criminal episode. Subsequently, in <u>State v. Callaway</u>, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995), this Courtfurther found that the decision in <u>Hale</u> was constitutional in nature and must be applied retroactively- This Court reasoned that, due process would prohibit the imposition of consecutive habitual felony offender sentences for offenses arising out of a single criminal episode where there was no statute to authorize such an enhanced punishment, Specifically this Court stated:

î

<u>Hale</u> also satisfies the requirement that it be constitutional in nature. As the district court in the instant case recognized, in the absence of an **empowering** statute, the imposition of consecutive habitual felony offender sentences for offenses arising out of a single criminal episode could not withstand a due process analysis. [citation omitted]- 658 So.2d at 986

In the **present** case at bar, this Court recognized that the attempt statute could not provide authority to sustain a conviction for attempted felony murder because the offense or attempt must require proof f the intent to commit the underlying crime and the crime of attempted felony murder requires no proof of intent. In <u>Callaway</u>, this Court found that <u>Hale</u> was constitutional in nature because the enhanced punishment was not predicated on any statute. Similarly, petitioner is serving a ten year sentence for an "attempt" crime which is not predicated on the attempt statute. The anomaly created by the facts of this **case** raises serious due process concerns.

Had petitioner moved to have count I of the information dismissed and argued that attempted felony murder was not a crime, and **appealed** in the District Court of Appeal, the petitioner-s case would have been in the pipeline and petitioner would be entitled to relief-

-11-

Clearly, for eleven year3 Amlotte dictated that the attempt statute encompassed the crime of attempted felony murder a petitioner thus relied on this law when he accepted his ten year prison sentence. To now recognize that attempted felony murder cannot logically exist and to deny petitioner relief because he did not advance an objection which was not supported by any controlling precedent raise3 the same due process concerns that were evident in <u>Hale-</u> The attempt statute provides no authority to support petitioner's conviction and sentence. Without an empowering statute, petitioner"3 conviction should be vacated even though his case was final when Gray wa3 decided.

The focal point of this Court"3 reasoning in <u>Grav</u> was that the attempt statute must always include proof of intent to commit the underling crime, when the state charged petitioner with attempted felony murder the state never had to allege, much less prove, the necessary element of intent- It appear3 the state was relieved of the burden to prove an element of the attempt statute. Any conviction baaed on a charge which exempt3 the state from proving an essential element of a crime violate3 the fundamental meaning of due process and is clearly of constitutional significance. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 58 (1970); <u>Francis v.</u> <u>Franklin</u>, 471 U.S. 307 (1985).

B. THIS COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE ATTEMPT STATUTEIN GRAY MUST RELATE BACK TO THE TIME THE ATTEMPT STATUTE WAS ENACTED.

The undeniably unique factor in this case is that between 1984 and 1995, this Court interpreted the attempt statute to include the crime of attempted felony murder- In <u>Svkes</u> and Adams, <u>supra</u>, the defendants were granted relief because they were convicted of crime3 that never existed.

Obviously, when petitioner pleaded guilty to the crime of attempted felony murder, he relied on this Court-3 decision in <u>Amlotte</u> which was the law in Florida in February 1995. Petitioner could have never predicted that after he

-12-

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