IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

89479 CASE NO. 897026

THEODORE FREEMAN,

FEB 27 1997

Petitioner,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Țallahassee, Florida

Don M. Rogers
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0656445
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.,
Third Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 688-7759

INTRODUCTION

Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District. Petitioner, Theodore Freeman, was the Respondent in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R." designates the original record on appeal, and the symbol "T." designates the transcript of the trial court proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent generally accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN STATE V. GRAY,
654 So, 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), WHICH HOLDS THAT
ATTEMPTED FELONY MURDER IS NOT A CRIME IN
FLORIDA, MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The rule announced by this Court in **Gray**, abrogating the crime of attempted felony murder in Florida from May 4, 1995 forward and for all cases in the "pipeline" or not yet final, is not applicable retroactively on collateral attack. Hence, where the Legislature specifically provided that attempted felony murder was a crime in Florida, and it remained so for over eleven years, the trial court had full authority during that tenure to convict and punish a criminal defendant for the crime of attempted felony murder.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN **STATE V. GRAY**, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), WHICH HOLDS THAT ATTEMPTED FELONY MURDER IS NOT A CRIME IN FLORIDA, MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY?

This case is before the Court for review of the question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the issue of whether the rule in State v. Grav, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), holding that attempted felony murder is not a crime in Florida, may be applied retroactively to overturn a conviction of attempted felony murder on collateral attack of a judgment and sentence already final.

This Court clearly and expressly limited application of <u>Gray's</u> new rule, holding that "[t]his decision must be applied to all cases pending on direct review or not yet final." <u>Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d at 554. Had this Court remained silent as to the application of the rule, statutory construction would mandate that the new rule apply to all nonfinal cases. <u>Heilmann v. State</u>, 310 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975). By specifically limiting the application of the new rule thusly, this Court meant that it would not apply to cases already final.

Notwithstanding the fact that this Court clearly stated the

limited application of Gray, the question then becomes whether the change in the law should be retroactively applied to provide post-conviction relief under Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. Whether or not it should be applied depends upon whether the change in the law passes the test of retroactive application as set out in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 925-927 (Fla. 1980), and reiterated in State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1995).

The standard in <u>Witt</u> requires that 1) the new rule must originate in the United States Supreme Court or in this Court, 2) it must be constitutional in nature; and 3) it must have fundamental significance. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 931. The first prong of the <u>Witt</u> test is met since the rule under scrutiny here originated in this Court. So the examination revolves around the second and third prongs of the test as to the constitutional nature of the change in the law and its fundamental significance.

To determine whether the change in law is of "major" constitutional proportions satisfying the second prong of the analysis such that it overcomes the doctrine of finality and may be made applicable on collateral attack of a conviction, the change must fall within one of two broad categories:

The first are those changes of law which place beyond the authority of the state the

power to regulate certain conduct or impose penalties. This exemplified by Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584, 97 S.Ct. 2861, 53 L.Ed.2d 982 (1977), which held that the imposition of the death penalty for the crime of rape of an adult woman is forbidden by the eighth amendment as cruel and unusual punishment. The second are those changes of law which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter. Gideon v. Wainwright, of course, is the prime example of a law change included within this category.

Witt, 387 So. 2d at 929. Thus, to determine whether a change in the law is a major constitutional change, it must either be 1) a change in the law which rescinds the State's power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalites, or 2) it must be of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application, under the three-fold test of Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 297, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967) and Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1965).

First, the change in the law announced in **Gray** does not place beyond the authority of the State the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties, for it is axiomatic that the State may still charge a defendant with the crimes of attempted first degree murder or felony murder, and is only precluded from charging attempted felony murder. **See Thompson** v. State, 667 So.

2d 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), (reversing conviction of attempted felony murder and remanding for retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder where the evidence supported such a charge);

Callaway, 658 So. 2d at 986-987; Stovall, 388 U.S. at 297.

The rule in <u>Gray</u> did not eliminate the existence of the crime of attempted murder or of felony murder, it merely clarified the reasoning underlying the element of intent which is a factual issue in each individual case. Such a change likens it to a change in procedure or an evolutionary refinement in the law providing new or different standards for the admissibility of evidence or procedural fairness in the law. It does not constitute a constitutionally fundamental change in the law as was the case in <u>Coker v. Georgia</u>, 433 U. S. 584, 97 S. Ct. 2861, 53 L. Ed. 2d 982 (1977) finding the death penalty to be an impermissible sentence in rape cases.

Likewise, it is not the kind of jurisprudential upheaval in the law represented by changes in sentencing provisions which benefit future prisoners and which could benefit current inmates where minimum mandatory sentences are impermissibly stacked or otherwise enhanced in violation of double jeopardy garauntees.

Coker, 433 U.S. 584. Under this prong of the analysis, the change does not qualify as a major constitutional change.

Furthermore, it cannot be considered a change of

constitutional dimensions, when the offense of attempted felony murder was a valid crime prior to the rule in Gray. The contrary, this conviction was based on an expressly valid offense which was confirmed under Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1984), and remained valid up to this Court's recession from Amlotte in Gray.

See also Gentry v. State, 437 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1983); Fleming v. State, 374 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 1979). Even when the Legislature has repealed or amended a formerly valid criminal statute, the Florida Constitution provides that such action shall not affect prosecution or punishment for any crime previously committed. Art. X, sec. 9, Fla. Const.

So, as a general rule, unless the Legislature has expressed to the contrary, prior convictions are not invalidated by amendment or repeal of a criminal statute. Skinner v. State, 383 So. 2d 767 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). It is logical that if a once valid repealed criminal statute is not constitutionally defective, by analogy, the amendment to the formerly valid crime of attempted felony murder by judicial clarification of the underlying elements of the offense does not render it constitutionally defective either.

This Court in <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 680 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1996) stated in relevant part that:

We hold that the proper remedy is remand to the trial court for retrial on **any** of the other offenses instructed on at trial.

We have previously considered nonexistent offenses in slightly different circumstances.

Wilson is correct in his assertion that involved nonexistent cases which were lesser included offenses of the principal charge in the charging document, as opposed to the instant case, grincisal charge was a nonexistent offense. However, we do not agree that this mandates dismissal of the charges in the instant case. In the earlier cases, `nonexistent" had a slightly different connotation. There, the offenses in question were never statutory offenses in Florida; they were simply the product of erroneous instruction. attempted felony murder statutorily defined offense, with enumerated elements and identifiable lesser offenses, for approximately eleven years. It only became 'nonexistent" when we decided Grav. it was a valid offense before Gray, because it had ascertainable lesser offenses, retrial on any lesser offense which was instructed on at trial is appropriate,

The State submits that the decision articulated by this Court in <u>Wilson</u> confirms that attempted felony murder was a statutorily defined offense prior to the decision in <u>Grav</u>, and that there is no constitutional bar to petitioner having plead guilty to the crime.

This Court in <u>Wilson</u> rejected the contention that such retrial on lesser offenses was improper. The district court had reasoned

that there could be no lesser included offenses of a nonexistent offense. Moreover, this Court stated, 'attempted felony murder was a statutorily defined offense, with enumerated elements and identifiable lesser offenses, for approximately eleven years. "It only became 'nonexistent' when we decided Gray." Wilson, 680 So. 2d at 412. 'Because it was a valid offense before Gray, and because it had ascertainable lesser offenses, retrial on any lesser offense which was instructed on at trial is appropriate." Id. Since petitioner plead guilty in the present case there is no need for this court to address the required remedy.

Notably, attempted felony murder has subsequently been reinstated by the Legislature in a newly enacted statute, sec. 782,051, Fla. Stat., which provides:

(1) Any person who perpetrates or attempts to perpetrate any felony enumerated in s. 782.04(3) and who commits, aids or abets an act that causes bodily injury to another commits a felony of the first degree, punishable by imprisonment for a term of years not exceeding life, or as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083 or s. 775.084, which is an offense ranked in level nine of the sentencing guidelines. Victim injury points shall be scored under this subsection.

Section 782.051, Fla. Stat. This statute is became effective October 1, 1996. The new rule of <u>Gray</u> making attempted felony

murder a nonexistent crime cannot be deemed a change of constitutional dimensions when the Legislature has followed up with the enactment of a law calculated to encompass the offense of attempted felony murder in less than two years.

Analysis of the change in the law establishes that it is not of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application. The three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter requires that the doctrine of finality should be abridged only when a more compelling objective appears, such as ensuring fairness and uniformity in individual adjudications. The test sets out factors to be considered in the analysis: (i) the purpose to be served by the new rule, (ii) the extent of reliance on the old rule, and (iii) the effect on the administration of justice that would be the result of a retroactive application of the new rule. Stovall, 388 U.S. 297; Linkletter, 381 U.S. 618; Callaway, 658 So. 2d 986-987; Witt, 387 so. 2d 929.

The purpose of the rule announced in <u>Gray</u>, is to clarify the internal inconsistency of the charge of attempted felony murder. Specifically, the Court reasoned that any "attempted" crime requires proof of the element of specific intent, while conversely, "felony murder" requires that no intent need be shown in order to obtain a conviction. <u>Gray</u>, 654 So. 2d at 553. This reasoning was

diametrically opposite to the original reasoning expounded in Amlotte in which this Court opined that "[B]ecause the attempt occurs during the commission of a felony, the law, as under the felony murder doctrine, presumes the existence of the specific intent required to prove attempt." Amlotte, 456 So. 2d at 450. Based on that inconsistency, a growing number of cases have emerged in which juries have convicted on the charge of attempted felony murder as a lesser included offense of attempted premeditated murder or as an alternately charged offense.

The Court recognized this conundrum in Grav and reversed its reasoning in Amlotte, determining that attempted felony murder could not be a crime in Florida. Therefore, this "change" in the law is decisional. It is an evolutionary refinement in the law, which defines the parameters of attempt and felony murder such that in the future the State may charge defendants with more specificity with regard to the evidence available to support the charges.

The extent of the reliance of Florida's trial courts and prosecuting attorneys on the old rule that attempted felony murder is a criminal offense in the state is immeasurable. Attempted felony murder was a chargeable offense in Florida prior to this Court's confirmation in Amlotte in 1984 and for eleven years following that decision until overruled by Caray in May 1995.

can be assumed by the length of that tenure as well as by the number of cases already presented for litigation as a result of the new rule that the reliance on the old rule was extensive.

Moreover, the Legislature's enactment of a law which effectively reinstates attempted felony murder as a crime in Florida would indicate that the criminal justice system will continue to rely on that crime for prosecution. In <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 471 so. 2d 9, 18 (Fla. 1985), this Court decided not to apply its decision to exclude hypnotically refreshed testimony retroactively because of the extent of police reliance on hypnosis.

If <u>Grav</u> were to be applied retroactively to all cases in which a conviction for attempted felony murder was secured and final, the effect on the administration of justice would be catastrophic and would undermine the confidence in our system of justice. <u>Stovall</u>, 388 U.S. at 297. Such a broadening of the application of the rule in <u>Grav</u> would open a Pandora's Box of relitigation of formerly sound plea bargains <u>as</u> involuntary, and of convictions in which the jury was instructed on alternative theories of attempted first degree premeditated and felony murder, not to mention all those convictions clearly founded on charges of attempted felony murder. Although statistics would be difficult to **obtain**, it is conceivable that the relitigation of attempted felony

F:\USERS\APPEALS\DON\WPFILES\FREEMANI.BR

murder convictions could number in the hundreds, if not thousands.

Retroactive application of the rule in <u>Grav</u> is not necessitated by the principles of fairness and uniformity, especially in light of the fact that even if the attempted felony murder charge in each individual case is vacated, the State would be permitted to retry on the lesser included offenses or on the alternative charge of attempted first degree murder, evidence permitting. <u>Callaway</u>, 658 So. 2d at 986-987; <u>Stovall</u>, 388 U.S. at 297. <u>Wilson</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S292.

Thus it is clear that the change in the law was not of fundamental significance, where for eleven years prior to the new rule, the authority of the State to regulate conduct and impose penalties for attempted felony murder remained valid. Thus, analysis here fails to meet the second prong of the retroactivity test as to whether the change in law is constitutional in nature.

The analysis also fails the third prong of the test requiring that the change be of fundamental significance, where the state was empowered by the Legislature to regulate the subject conduct - attempted murder during the commission of a felony - and was authorized to impose penalties for convictions on such charges. The change in the law of Gray consisted of this Court's clarification of the internal inconsistency in which the element of

F:\\!\\RERS\APPEALS\DON\WPFILES\FREEMAN1.BR

an "attempt" requiring specific intent was contradictory to the elements of felony murder requiring no specific intent, constituting a decisional change amounting to an evolutionary refinement in the law, There is no change in the State's ability to charge a defendant with attempted murder or felony murder, or with any of the lesser included offenses that would be sustained by the evidence.

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